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Converted into house    1550s 
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Summary 

 

Warden Abbey was founded in 1135 as a daughter house to the slightly older Cistercian 

abbey of Rievaulx in Yorkshire, whose founder, Walter Espec, also gave the land for this 

new community. The Cistercians were great sheep farmers, turning marginal or rough 

grazing land to productive use. This seems to have been true of Warden, which was 

also called St Mary de Sartis, meaning 'of the cleared land.’ The first abbot was Simon, 

formerly novice master at Rievaulx and famous for his piety and learning.  

With this auspicious start, Warden flourished and grew wealthy. Fine buildings followed 

and by 1300 the monastery was already extensive. It was to continue growing, because 

around 1320 work started on an abbey church of cathedral-like proportions. Much of the 

money to pay for this came in the form of alms, gifts from those who visited the church 

- the medieval equivalent of the modern fabric appeal. The magnificent tile pavement 

with which the church was embellished was discovered in 1961, and has since been 

taken to Bedford Museum. Another, similar, pavement, which is thought to have 

decorated the Abbot's Lodging, was found in 1974 just north of the present Warden 

Abbey.  

Little is known of the abbey during the four centuries of its existence, but such 

information as exists points to it being highly respected for its spiritual life and religious 

discipline. The most famous, or infamous, incident took place in 1217, when, after a 

dispute over property, Fawkes de Breaute, the overmighty Sheriff of Bedfordshire, killed 

one of the monks, wounded others and had thirty of them dragged 'through the mud' to 

his castle at Bedford. Although he later did full penance in the chapter house at Warden, 

it must have been some time before harmony was re-established in the abbey.  

Warden was widely known for more peaceful activities, too, since it was here that the 

Warden pear was cultivated. A small pear used for cooking, it gave rise to the Warden 

pie, which crops up here and there in Elizabethan and Stuart literature, most notably in 

Shakespeare's Winter's Tale. Hot Warden Pies were still sold in Bedford in the 

nineteenth century. So proud was the abbey of this horticultural achievement that they 

put it on the reverse side of their seal, which displays three pears surrounding a crozier.  

In 1537, in the reign of Henry VIII, the abbey was dissolved and its estates, valued at 

£389 16s 6l/2d, distributed to new owners. The site of the abbey itself went to Robert 

Gostwick, whose family were large landowners in the county. He set about demolishing 

the buildings, and selling the materials: 400 cart loads of stone were taken to Bedford to 

build the new gaol. This was in 1552 and shortly afterwards a red brick mansion was 

built just east of the site, possibly incorporating some late additions to the Abbot's 

Lodging. A view of this house was engraved by S. and N. Buck in 1730, at which time 

the owner was a 'Rev. Mr. Paris.’ Later in the century the property was bought by 

Samuel Whitbread, of Southill Park, to whose family it still belongs, although it has 

been held on lease since 1974 by the Landmark Trust.  

In about 1790, the main part of the Tudor house was pulled down, leaving only a short 

wing which ran back from its north-west corner. This wing is the building known today 

as Warden Abbey, which is therefore all that is left to us here, above ground, of both 

monastery and house. With its red brick walls, ornate chimney, and tall mullioned 

windows, it is recognisably Tudor, but the story is more complicated than first appears. 

The north-west corner is in fact the stone buttress of a vanished medieval building to 

the north. Inside, in the main ground floor room, is an arch through which you could 
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once pass into a room beyond; this was later blocked and then turned into a fireplace. 

The whole of this surviving fragment could even be earlier than the Gostwick house, 

built by one of the last abbots, perhaps, who might have used the fine room on the first 

floor as a sunny, south-facing parlour.  

Repair of Warden Abbey 

When the Landmark Trust took on Warden Abbey in 1974, the building had been 

derelict for many years. As long ago as 1912, in the Victoria County History, it was 

described as being 'very ruinous' and used only as a pigeon house. In the 1950s, the 

roof was damaged by a fire, and although repairs were carried out in the 1960s, where 

the corner of the garderobe tower next to the stair turret had collapsed, a full 

restoration was still urgently needed. This the Landmark Trust offered to carry out, in 

return for a lease of the building. Since each party of visitors would only be here for a 

short time, there was no need for a garden, and nor was it essential to bring a car right 

to the door. The position of the building in the middle of an actively-farmed field was 

therefore no impediment.  

The restoration was carried out under the supervision of the architect John Phillips, 

from London. The builders were Bernard Ward, of Bedford. Work started in 1974, and 

the building was finally furnished and ready for visitors in 1976. A minor alteration to 

the stair turret was made in 1979, to extend the stairs to the attic, which to begin with 

was only reached by ladder.  

The first task was to repair the roof. The west gable had to be taken down and rebuilt, 

and new rafters fitted. The old tiles were then put back, with second hand ones to make 

up for those that were missing. The stair turret was given a new conical top, based on 

that in the Buck engraving. A hidden dormer was made behind the tall chimney to give 

it extra support. The west chimney was made taller, to encourage it to draw.  

Some sections of the parapet had to be taken down and rebuilt, with new coping stones 

laid on top. In the walls themselves, one or two corner stones, or quoins, had to be 

renewed, and several bricks had to be cut out and replaced. Only the east wall was in 

reasonably sound condition, since this was only built when the Tudor range beyond it 

was demolished in about 1790.  

Most of the windows had been blocked, and these were now opened up again, and the 

mullions repaired. Only the later window in the east wall of the first floor room was left 

blocked, to recreate the original arrangement of that room. New windows were made to 

light the present bathroom and the loo above it. All the windows were then reglazed by 

Denis King of Norwich.  

In the north wall of the building, next to the stair tower, was a blocked doorway. Since 

visitors would approach from this direction, it seemed sensible to open this up, and 

make a hall at the foot of the stairs. The more elaborate southern doorway opened into 

a small room which, since it was next to the main living room, seemed the best place 

for the kitchen. Upstairs, the large first floor room had long been divided into two rather 

small bedrooms. Since this had originally been just one room, and a very fine one, the 

partitions were taken down to allow it to be enjoyed as one room again.  

The ceilings were repaired on both floors, particularly where the ends of beams had 

rotted, and the moulded wallplate or cornice had disappeared. New oak floors were laid 

on the upper floors, with tiles on the ground floor. The walls were replastered where the 

old plaster was missing or decayed, and then limewashed in the traditional way. 

Around the building, the ground level had risen considerably. The work of lowering it, 
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and digging trenches to bring water and electricity into the building, was carried out by 

archaeologists from Bedfordshire County Council, with exciting results. Some of the 

finds can be seen in Bedford Museum. 
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An Outline History of Warden Abbey 
 

Warden Abbey was founded in 1135 as a daughter house to the slightly older 

Cistercian abbey of Rievaulx in Yorkshire, whose founder, Walter Espec, also 

gave the land for this new community. The Cistercians were great sheep 

farmers, turning marginal or rough grazing land to productive use. This seems 

to have been true of Warden, which was also called St Mary de Sartis, meaning 

`of the cleared land.’ The first abbot was Simon, formerly novice master at 

Rievaulx and famous for his piety and learning. 

 

With this auspicious start, Warden flourished and grew wealthy. Fine buildings 

followed and by 1300 the monastery was already extensive. It was to continue 

growing, because around 1320 work started on an abbey church of cathedral-like 

proportions. Much of the money to pay for this came in the form of alms, gifts 

from those who visited the church - the medieval equivalent of the modern 

fabric appeal. The magnificent tile pavement with which the church was 

embellished was discovered in 1961, and has since been taken to Bedford 

Museum. Another, even finer, pavement, thought to have decorated the Abbot's 

Lodging, was found in 1974 just north of the present Warden Abbey. 

 

Little is known of the abbey during the four centuries of its existence, but such 

information as exists points to its being highly respected for its spiritual life and 

religious discipline. The most famous, or infamous, incident took place in 1217, 

when, after a dispute over property, Fawkes de Breaut‚, the overmighty Sheriff 

of Bedfordshire, killed one of the monks, wounded others and had thirty of them 

dragged `through the mud' to his castle at Bedford. Although he later did full 

penance in the chapter house at Warden, it must have been some time before 

harmony was re-established in the abbey.  
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Warden was widely known for more peaceful activities, too, since it was here 

that the Warden pear was cultivated. A small pear used for cooking, it gave rise 

to the Warden pie, which crops up here and there in Elizabethan and Stuart  

 
 

The Buck engraving in the original (above) and as redrawn by B. West 
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literature, most notably in Shakespeare's Winter’s Tale. Hot Warden Pies were 

still sold in Bedford in the nineteenth century. So proud was the abbey of this 

horticultural achievement that they put it on the reverse side of their seal, which 

displays three pears surrounding a crozier. The monks are also thought to have 

made their own wine, a practice that has recently been revived by the Southill 

Park estate. 

 

In 1537, in the reign of Henry VIII, the abbey was dissolved and its estates, 

valued at £389 16s 6½ d, distributed to new owners. The site of the abbey itself 

went to Robert Gostwick, whose family were large landowners in the county. He 

set about demolishing the buildings, and selling the materials:  400 cartloads of 

stone were taken to Bedford to build the new gaol. This was in 1552 and shortly 

afterwards a red brick mansion was built just east of the site, possibly 

incorporating some late additions to the Abbot's Lodging. It consisted of a long 

main range, lying from north to south, with a wing running back from its north-

west corner. Whether this wing, with a stair turret on the north, was balanced by 

another at the south-west, to enclose a west facing courtyard, is not known. 

There were terraced gardens on the east side. 

 

A view of the Tudor house from the north-east was engraved by S. and N. Buck 

in 1730. By this time it had changed hands several times. In the reign of Charles 

II it belonged to the Bovey family, of whom Sir Charles was Sheriff of 

Bedfordshire in 1669. The Buck engraving gives the owner at that time as a `Rev. 

Mr. Paris.’ Around 1784 the property was bought by Samuel Whitbread, the 

brewer, to whose family it still belongs. 

 

Soon after this, and before 1790, the house was pulled down, leaving only a part 

of the north-west wing. Responsibility for this is unclear. In 1801, the first 

volume of The Beauties of England and Wales by J. Britton and E.W. Brayley, 

was published, which included Bedfordshire. This blamed simply `the destroying 

hand of time' which had `nearly demolished' the formerly `very extensive and  
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This is a copy of the engraving by the Buck brothers in 1730 and shows the East 

wing which was demolished late that century 

  



                                                                                Warden Abbey History Album 

 13 

considerable monastery', so that `two rooms, and a staircase, are the only parts 

which remain perfect.’ They do however note that the estate had been 

purchased by the late Samuel Whitbread `who was very desirous of preserving 

the ancient remains.’  

 

This statement provoked a rather different theory from a correspondent in The 

Gentleman’s Magazine whose letter was published that same year:  `I always 

understood the late Mr Whitbread demolished Warden Abbey which when I saw 

it 30 years ago, was a good large farmhouse; nor did I every hear Mr Whitbread 

was partial to Antiquities.’ Perhaps a reliable judgement can be found in the 

diaries of John Byng, later Viscount Torrington, from whose brother Samuel 

Whitbread was to buy Southill Park. On 28th August, 1790, he passed by Warden 

`where the priory of Warden till very lately remained in good preservation, but 

now nothing but a back part of the offices remain preserv'd as the whole would 

have been, by the late purchaser, Mr Whitbread, had he come in time (being an 

improver and preserver); the chimney and the stone work above the door are 

much admired. This, as a farmhouse, an excellent one might have been formed, 

or as a shooting box.’ 
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The pavement, discovered in 1976 was removed and taken to Bedford Museum. 

Note the blocked door of the Abbey. 
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The fragment left standing is the building known today as Warden Abbey, which 

is therefore all that is left to us here, above ground, of both monastery and 

house. Below the surface is a rather different story. 

 

Minor exploration of the site of the abbey has probably always gone on. By the 

19th century this was being done in a more scholarly manner. Already, in 1801, 

Britton and Brailey had noted that `some curious figured stones, subterranean 

passages etc. have been discovered at different times, as the earth has been dug 

away in the vicinity of the ruins.’ In the 1820s and '30s, a local schoolmaster, 

Bradford Rudge, was prompted by W.H. Whitbread to make a more systematic 

excavation. He drew his finds in a sketchbook which is now in the care of 

Bedford Museum. Copies of some pages are included in this album. 

 

The first `modern' excavation was carried out in 1960-1961 by the Bedford 

Archaeological Society, under Granville Rudd and Bernard West. Using Rudge's 

plan of his findings as a guide, together with the existing building, the aim was 

to discover the site of the abbey church. This was not only achieved in 1961 but 

at the same time the first of the tile pavements was uncovered. An article on the 

findings was written in the Society's journal, a copy of which is included in this 

album. 

 

The next and most recent excavation was prompted by the Landmark's 

restoration of Warden Abbey in 1974-5. This time, what was expected to be a 

simple `rescue' dig, led by David Baker of Bedfordshire County Council, turned 

out to have even more spectacular results, with the discovery of the second tile 

pavement. The opportunity was taken to lift both pavements and take them to 

Bedford for conservation and study. The results of this study have been 

published by Evelyn Baker1, and the place of the Warden tiles among the  

  

 
1 Warden Abbey Medieval Floor Tiles, by Evelyn Baker, Rotterdam Papers and Images, Ceramic 

Floors and Warden Abbey, by Evelyn Baker, World Archaeology Vol 18, No. 3). Copies of both 

reports are in the Leaflet Box in the building. 
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This chimney is a fine example of Tudor craftsmanship (BCC) 
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leading medieval works of art has been firmly established. Some of the tiles are 

now on display in Bedford Museum. 

 

A full account of the excavation's findings on the plan and development of the 

abbey site is still awaited, and may throw some light on the relationship of the 

Abbot's Lodging, and other adjoining structures, to the present building. This, 

which was examined and recorded during building work by John Bailey, has a 

more complicated story than first appears. With its red brick walls, ornate 

chimney, and tall mullioned windows, it is recognisably Tudor. But its north-

west corner is in fact formed by the stone buttress of a vanished medieval 

building to the north. Inside, in the main ground floor room, is an arch through 

which you could once pass into a room beyond (as imaginatively reconstructed 

in the drawing by John Bailey which now hangs in the kitchen). This arch was 

later blocked and then turned into a fireplace. It has even been suggested that 

the whole of this surviving fragment could be earlier than the Gostwick house, 

built by one of the last abbots around 1530. Whoever was the builder, it is not 

hard to imagine them using the fine room on the first floor as a sunny, south-

facing parlour.  
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Warden Abbey as it looked for the first half of the 20th century – the windows 

broken or blocked, but the roof complete (BCC) 
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A photograph of c1950 taken by the University of Cambridge Committee for 

Aerial Photography  
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The south front in 1974 before work began. (BCC) 
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The north and west sides in 1974 (BCC) 
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The following photographs were taken by the builders, Bernard Ward Ltd and 

show the derelict state of the Abbey before work started. 
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The first excavation of the abbey church in 1961. The roof was damaged by a 

fire in the late 1950s. The corner of the garderobe tower had collapsed (BCC) 
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October 1961, after the garderobe tower had been repaired. The west elevation 

has been extensively reconstructed at various dates, most recently in 1974-5 

(RCHME) 
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The Repair of Warden Abbey 
 

When the Landmark Trust took on Warden Abbey in 1974, the building had been 

derelict for many years. As long ago as 1912, in the Victoria County History, it 

was described as being `very ruinous' and used only as a pigeon house. In the 

1950s, the roof was damaged by a fire, and although repairs were carried out in 

the 1960s, where the corner of the garderobe tower next to the stair turret had 

collapsed, a full restoration was still urgently needed.  

 

This the Landmark Trust offered to carry out, in return for a lease of the building. 

Since each party of visitors would only be here for a short time, there was no 

need for a garden, and nor was it essential to bring a car right to the door. The 

position of the building in the middle of an actively- farmed field was therefore 

no impediment. 

 

The restoration was carried out under the supervision of the architect John 

Phillips, from London. The builders were Bernard Ward, of Bedford. Work 

started in 1974, and the building was finally furnished and ready for visitors in 

1976. A minor alteration to the stair turret was made in 1979, to extend the stairs 

to the attic, which to begin with was only reached by ladder. 

 

The first task in 1974 was to repair the roof. The west gable had to be taken 

down and rebuilt, and the damaged rafters repaired. The old tiles were then put 

back, with second hand ones to make up for those that were missing. The stair 

turret was given a new conical top, based on the Buck engraving. A hidden 

dormer was made behind the tall chimney at the same time, to give it extra 

support. The west chimney was made taller, to encourage it to draw. 

 

Some sections of the parapet had to be taken down and rebuilt, with new coping 

stones laid on top. In the walls themselves, one or two corner stones, or quoins, 

had to be renewed, and several bricks had to be cut out and replaced. The east  
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The door by the stair turret unblocked, exposing the footings of the turret. 

 

 
 

The foreground shows a brick footing for the demolished wing 

 of the mansion, partly re-using Abbey stone.  
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wall was in reasonably sound condition, since this was only built when the 

Tudor range beyond it was demolished in about 1790. 

 

Most of the windows had been blocked, and these were now opened up again, 

and the mullions repaired. Only the later window in the east wall of the first floor 

was left blocked, as part of the restoration of the Tudor room there. New 

windows were made to light the present bathroom and the loo above it. All the 

windows were then reglazed by Denis King of Norwich.  

 

In the north wall of the building, next to the stair tower, was a blocked doorway. 

Since visitors would approach from this direction, it seemed sensible to open 

this up, and make a hall at the foot of the stairs. The more elaborate southern 

doorway opened into a small room which, since it was next to the main living 

room, seemed the best place for the kitchen. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

The present building showing the 

blocked doorway, now opened, with 

the 17th century floor of the 

attached building in front. In the 

foreground is a medieval wall and 

room fill which was over the top of 

the second pavement. 
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The sitting room during the renovation of Warden Abbey (BCC) 
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Upstairs, the large first floor room had long been divided into two rather small 

bedrooms. Since this had originally been just one room, and a very fine one, the 

partitions were taken down to allow it to be enjoyed as one room again. 

 

The ceilings were repaired on both floors, particularly where the ends of beams 

had rotted, and the moulded wallplate or cornice had disappeared. New oak 

floors were laid on the upper floors, with tiles on the ground floor. The walls 

were replastered where the old plaster was missing or decayed, and then 

limewashed in the traditional way. 

 

Around the building, the ground level had risen considerably. The work of 

lowering it, and digging trenches to bring water and electricity into the building, 

was carried out by the archaeologists from Bedfordshire County Council, with 

exciting results. 

 

Charlotte Haslam 

Spring 1994 

 

 

Update in 2011 

Modifications to the flue lining at the head of the inglenook fireplace in the 

sitting room failed to solve the long standing problem of the fire smoking from 

its wide flue, so in 2011 a large solid fuel stove was installed that does not 

smoke and radiates the heat more efficiently.  
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Warden Abbey and the Culture Recovery Fund 2020-21 

2020-21 was the year when the COVID-19 pandemic hit the UK, and for nine 

months out of twelve, Landmark had to close all its buildings, with a resulting 

cessation of the holiday income that funds our buildings’ maintenance. Vital 

projects across Britain were put on hold because of the pandemic, because of 

uncertainty about when contracts could be agreed or when specialist builders 

and craftspeople would be allowed to work onsite again. The closure of 

Landmarks for holiday bookings from March to October 2020 and again from 

December to April 2021 was a devastating blow to our finances and directly 

impacted Landmark’s maintenance budget.  

However, in autumn 2020 we were delighted to receive a grant of £1.2million 

from the government’s Culture Recovery Fund, allowing us to reignite our 

planned maintenance programme and ensure that none of our buildings fell into 

disrepair.  

Landmarks that benefitted from the Cultural Recovery Fund 2020-21 
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Under the auspices of the Department for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport 

(DCMS), the Culture Recovery Fund was designed to secure the future of 

Britain’s museums, galleries, theatres, independent cinemas, heritage sites and 

music venues with emergency grants and loans. One strand of the Fund was the 

Heritage Stimulus Fund administered by Historic England, which included the 

Major Works Programme, source of the grant to Landmark. This transformative 

grant allowed a group of 15 critical maintenance projects at 17 Landmarks 

across England to go ahead.  

The projects directly provided employment and training for more than 130 

craftspeople, including many multi-generation family-run businesses local to our 

buildings. Masons, carpenters, architects, engineers and many more skilled 

specialists were involved across these sites, fuelling the recovery of the heritage 

sector and contributing to local economies on a national scale. Several sites 

hosted students and apprentices, providing vital opportunities at a time of great 

uncertainty.  

At Warden Abbey, a tender process already underway for key repairs to the 

historic brickwork had  to grind to a halt in March 2020. Thanks to the CRF 

grant, Mathias Restoration of Dunstable, specialists in brick and flint work and 

family-run for several generations, were able to undertake the extensive repairs. 

They replaced some 400 of the worst-worn bricks and carried out extensive 

repointing across all four elevations. The unique barley twist chimney was also 

repaired, where we were excited to find traces of the original ‘raddle’ (red paint) 

still clinging to some of the brick.  

 

 

 

 

 

  

Conservation architect Philip Orchard (left), and Landmark surveyor Stephen Donelan inspect 

the weathered chimney prior to its repair. It was highly sophisticated work – then and now. 
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Photographs of the tile floor discovered in 1976 

 
 

 

 

 
 

Part of the very fine 14th century tile pavement from the  

nave of the church. 

 



                                                                                Warden Abbey History Album 

 41 

 
 

 

 
 

A piece of the second pavement to be discovered (BCC) 
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A 14th century ridge tile now on display  

in the Tile Room at the British Museum (BCC) 

 

 
 

Imprints on the mortar floor of the tile pattern on the site of the church nave 
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Some of the robbed footings of the walls in the nave of the church. 

 

 
 

The remains of the medieval floor outside the present 

 kitchen and sitting room. It survived only because a  

stone hearth had been built on top of it at a later period.  

In the foreground it’s a post medieval well.  

Some of these bricks were used to repair the house. 
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A further view of the floor with the hearth. The circular depression 

with a round hole in the middle is archaeological evidence of the 

pump which serviced the well.  
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Excavations at Warden Abbey in 1960 and 1961 
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Bradford Rudge drawings 
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Extract from the Antiquaries Journal, Vol 91, 2011
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